
JOINT CITY OF VERO BEACH RECREATION COMMISSION/MARINE COMMISSION WORKSHOP 
MINUTES TO 

DISCUSS FUTURE LAND WHERE THE POWER PLANT AND THE FORMER POST OFFICE 
ANNEX PROPERTY IS LOCATED 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 26, 2016  6:00 P.M. 
CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 

 
PRESENT 
 
RECREATION COMMISSION:  Richard Yemm, Chairman; Bobbi Burdick, Vice Chairman;  
Members: Greg Holton, Judy Jones, Sue Dinenno and Alternate #1 Angie Schepers 
 
MARINE COMMISSION:  Thomas Juliano, Chairman; Members: Brian Cunningham and 
Alternate #1 William Walker and Alternate #2 William Johnson 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Rob Slezak, Recreation Director; Tim Grabenbauer, Marina Director and 
Tammy Vock, City Clerk 
 
EXCUSED ABSENCES: 
 
Mr. Dan Thomas, Marine Commission 
Mr. Robert Snyder, Marine Commission 
Mr. Clinton Lanier, Marine Commission 
Mrs. Christina Pierce, Recreation Commission 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A) Roll Call 
 
The City Clerk performed the roll call for the Recreation Commission and the Marine 
Commission. 
 
2. OPENING STATEMENTS 
 
A) Chairman of the Marine Commission – Mr. Thomas (Tom) Juliano 
 
Mr. Thomas Juliano, Chairman of the Marine Commission, stated what a unique and exciting 
opportunity that they have to come up with ideas for these three (3) pieces of property (Power 
Plant, Post Office Annex, and Waste Water Treatment Plant).  He said tonight they all have an 
opportunity to determine the uses for these pieces of property.  He said the City has a few 
requirements that must be met. One is that the primary use for this property must be 
recreation and the second is that the land needs to generate income for the City.   
 
B) Chairman of the Recreation Commission – Mr. Richard (Dick) Yemm 

Page 1  RC/MC joint meeting 01/26/16 
 



 
Mr. Richard (Dick) Yemm, Chairman of the Recreation Commission, stated that this is the third 
workshop of three (3) held to discuss this land.  He read what they have received as suggested 
uses for the Power Plant/Postal Annex Land (please see attached).  He also mentioned that 
someone approached him about considering swapping the land where the Vero Beach Yacht 
Club property currently sits with the Power Plant land.   
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Mr. Dougsky, (spelling may not be correct) of Tarpon Lane, was at tonight’s meeting as a 
resident and President of Tarpon Island Condo Association.  He said that he attended the first 
input session about these properties and was a little nervous when he left the meeting.  He 
expressed that there are over 100 residents who live close to these properties.  He said they 
need to take into consideration these residents.  These three properties (Power Plant, Post 
Office Annex, and Waste Water Treatment Plant) are close to surrounding residences.  He felt 
that noise pollution of any kind must be a high consideration.  He said bars are not great 
neighbors.  Nor are places that allow bands to play at their business.  He also does not agree 
with having an amphitheater at this location.  He noted that sound travels from one (1) bridge 
to the other.  Where he lives now the residences hear the bands playing at Riverside Café.  He 
expressed that Vero Beach was not the first municipality to own waterfront property.  Some 
research can be done to see what other municipalities have done with their riverfront property.  
He said this area needs to be developed in the high end or not at all.  He commented that the 
last thing they need is another drug store or gas station at the corner of 17th Street. 
 
Mr. Steve Cox was at tonight’s meeting to talk about the Power Plant property.  He was 
proposing a non motorized water craft launch facility (please see attached proposal). 
 
Mr. Juliano asked Mr. Cox how many groups are involved with the Indian River Paddle Sports 
Association and who are they. 
 
Mr. Cox mentioned the Vero Beach Power Squadron, as being one of the organizations.  
 
Mrs. Sue Dinneno, Recreation Commission member, asked who would manage the storage 
rental operation. 
 
Mr. Cox assumed it would be the City. 
 
Mr. Tim Grabenbauer, Marina Director, explained that the City does their own billing and bill 
the kayak rentals on a monthly basis.  He said there would need to be someone on site in order 
to handle the billing. 
 
Mrs. Dinneno referred to the diagram presented by Mr. Cox and asked where the parking was 
going to be located. 

Page 2  RC/MC joint meeting 01/26/16 
 



Mr. Cox showed on the doc cam where he thought the parking could go.  He said there would 
need to be an unloading area close to the water. 
 
Mr. William (Bill) Walker, Marine Commission member, commented that he loves the idea that 
has just been presented.  He is on the water every day and it looks to him that it might be quite 
a hike to have to be carrying a kayak or paddle board to get to the water.  He mentioned where 
they want to put this launch facility is prime property on this site.  Mr. Cox said that he would 
not have a problem if they had to be located on the canal side.  Mr. Walker commented that 
the mangrove issue has not been addressed. 
 
Mr. Yemm reminded the public that at this workshop they were just collecting ideas, which will 
be submitted to the City Council.    
 
Ms. Barbara McGraf stated that she lives on Cobia Drive and that canal is not very wide.  She 
said they are talking about a pretty big operation with these paddle boats and kayaks.  She 
thought it would be dangerous for people getting in and out of this narrow canal.  She also 
mentioned that there were mangroves there. 
 
Mr. Herb Whittall commented that he would like to see a restaurant on the river.  The 
restaurant could be where the cooling towers are now located.  He agreed with not allowing a 
band to play in this area.  If there is an outdoor band the surrounding residences could hear the 
music.  He noted that they will have to move the transfer station, which could go on the 
property where the former Post Office annex is located.  
 
Mr. Charlie Wilson, Vero Beach Chamber of Commerce, commented that the Indian River 
Chamber of Commerce put together a Task Force and studied this issue.  The Indian River 
Chamber of Commerce was at the City Council meeting to give their recommendations and said 
they would not be attending this meeting.  He had hoped that they would have been here 
tonight.  Mr. Wilson said that they are actually talking about four (4) properties, with the fourth 
property being the manufactured home community located to the south.  There probably will 
be some major changes with that property.   He commented that it will take years to get this 
done.  The electric station is an important consideration that still has not been settled. He felt 
that they have heard some good ideas for the property.  He said that as far as moving the 
Water Treatment Plant, Ft. Pierce is in the process of working on moving their Plant so maybe 
the two cities could work together on this.  He felt that what they decide for this land should be 
the highest and best use for this community.  He brought up when the Vero Beach Chamber of 
Commerce brought in the Nina and Pinta that one thing they learned is that there is a shortage 
of deep water access in Vero Beach.  He said if they lose the deep water access at this site they 
have lost if forever.  The Vero Beach Chamber of Commerce could not use this site for the Nina 
and Pinta because homeland security would not allow people on the property.  The idea of 
doing a land swap is something to think about.  He expressed that they needed to protect their 
community.     
 

Page 3  RC/MC joint meeting 01/26/16 
 



Mrs. Bobbie Burdick, Recreation Commission member, asked with the deepwater canal could 
they get access from the waterway into that canal.  Mr. Wilson answered yes and explained. 
 
Mr. Holton asked how deep is the water that they are discussing. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer guessed it was about five (5) to six (6) feet.  He said no dredging has been 
done in this area since the barges were there. 
 
Mr. Herb Whitall stated that he lives on the canal off of the main canal and the speed limit is 30 
mph.  He said when big boats go through this canal the waves come into their canal.   
 
Mr. Wilson did not think that a 90-foot boat was going to be traveling at 30 mph. 
 
Mr. Chris Woodrift, of Paddle by the Sea, commented that he would love to see this be a mixed 
use type facility.  He would also like to see a restaurant there.     
 
Mr. Vic DeMattia, Chair of the Facilities Commission for the Youth Sailing Foundation, stated 
that the corner of the property should not be a commercial development.  His organization 
sometimes sails out of there and it is not smooth water.  He said the Indian River Rowing Club 
had trouble with 60-foot boats getting out of there.   
 
Mr. Ken Daige stated that this land is protected in the Charter.  One thing they have heard is 
that this area is “prime” property.  He would like to see this prime property left open for the 
general population to go and observe the river.  There is not a lot of river front where you don’t 
have to pay to use it.  There is also not many places to launch boats where they don’t  have to 
pay to launch boats.  He said eventually the Water Treatment Plant will be relocated.  He asked 
moving forward that as much open space they can be preserved be done and that the height 
limitation not be changed.   
 
Ms. Rachel Balm commented that there have been so many great ideas put out for this 
property.  She hopes that whatever this property becomes that it be done in a very eco friendly 
way.   
 
4. COMMENTS FROM THE RECREATION COMMISSION/MARINE COMMISSION MEMBERS 
 
Mr. Juliano asked for comments from the Marine and Recreation Commission members. 
 
Mr. Johnson felt they were moving in the right direction.  He felt that they should use the experts when 
it comes to the planning aspect of it and then have it presented to the public.  There needs to be 
continued input from the public and he loves the direction they are moving in and the input they have 
received.   He encouraged keeping communication open with the public. 

Page 4  RC/MC joint meeting 01/26/16 
 



Mr. Juliano commented that this is the very beginning of a long process.  He said the citizens of this 
community will be involved through the whole process.  He said no one knows how long it will take.  He 
appreciated everyone spending the time to present their ideas.   
 
Mr. Yemm stated that the next step to take will be the recommendations from these two Commissions 
to be presented to the City Council at their February 16th City Council meeting.   They will present all of 
the suggestions that people have made and make a presentation to City Council on how to proceed.  
Some options will be to use a land designer to incorporate all of these different ideas.  A charrette will 
probably be done and different alternatives will be presented.  It will take several months before all of 
this is completed.  Council has the option to utilize the services of the Treasure Coast Regional Planning 
Council or to go out to bid and hire a developer or land design company to come up with a plan.  He said 
that would be Council’s decision.   They will take all of the ideas and suggestions and present them to 
Council.  The designer chosen will come in and develop a master plan for all three (3) pieces of land.  He 
thanked everyone for their participation and looked forward to working with them in the future.   
 
5. STAFF COMMENTS 
 
None 
 
6. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Tonight’s meeting adjourned at 7:01 p.m. 
 
/tv 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 5  RC/MC joint meeting 01/26/16 
 


	JOINT CITY OF VERO BEACH RECREATION COMMISSION/MARINE COMMISSION WORKSHOP
	MINUTES TO
	DISCUSS FUTURE LAND WHERE THE POWER PLANT AND THE FORMER POST OFFICE
	ANNEX PROPERTY IS LOCATED
	TUESDAY, JANUARY 26, 2016  6:00 P.M.
	CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA
	PRESENT
	RECREATION COMMISSION:  Richard Yemm, Chairman; Bobbi Burdick, Vice Chairman;  Members: Greg Holton, Judy Jones, Sue Dinenno and Alternate #1 Angie Schepers
	MARINE COMMISSION:  Thomas Juliano, Chairman; Members: Brian Cunningham and Alternate #1 William Walker and Alternate #2 William Johnson
	ALSO PRESENT:  Rob Slezak, Recreation Director; Tim Grabenbauer, Marina Director and Tammy Vock, City Clerk
	EXCUSED ABSENCES:
	Mr. Dan Thomas, Marine Commission
	Mr. Robert Snyder, Marine Commission
	Mr. Clinton Lanier, Marine Commission
	Mrs. Christina Pierce, Recreation Commission
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	A) Roll Call
	The City Clerk performed the roll call for the Recreation Commission and the Marine Commission.
	2. OPENING STATEMENTS
	A) Chairman of the Marine Commission – Mr. Thomas (Tom) Juliano
	Mr. Thomas Juliano, Chairman of the Marine Commission, stated what a unique and exciting opportunity that they have to come up with ideas for these three (3) pieces of property (Power Plant, Post Office Annex, and Waste Water Treatment Plant).  He said tonight they all have an opportunity to determine the uses for these pieces of property.  He said the City has a few requirements that must be met. One is that the primary use for this property must be recreation and the second is that the land needs to generate income for the City.  
	B) Chairman of the Recreation Commission – Mr. Richard (Dick) Yemm
	Mr. Richard (Dick) Yemm, Chairman of the Recreation Commission, stated that this is the third workshop of three (3) held to discuss this land.  He read what they have received as suggested uses for the Power Plant/Postal Annex Land (please see attached).  He also mentioned that someone approached him about considering swapping the land where the Vero Beach Yacht Club property currently sits with the Power Plant land.  
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	Mr. Dougsky, (spelling may not be correct) of Tarpon Lane, was at tonight’s meeting as a resident and President of Tarpon Island Condo Association.  He said that he attended the first input session about these properties and was a little nervous when he left the meeting.  He expressed that there are over 100 residents who live close to these properties.  He said they need to take into consideration these residents.  These three properties (Power Plant, Post Office Annex, and Waste Water Treatment Plant) are close to surrounding residences.  He felt that noise pollution of any kind must be a high consideration.  He said bars are not great neighbors.  Nor are places that allow bands to play at their business.  He also does not agree with having an amphitheater at this location.  He noted that sound travels from one (1) bridge to the other.  Where he lives now the residences hear the bands playing at Riverside Café.  He expressed that Vero Beach was not the first municipality to own waterfront property.  Some research can be done to see what other municipalities have done with their riverfront property.  He said this area needs to be developed in the high end or not at all.  He commented that the last thing they need is another drug store or gas station at the corner of 17th Street.
	Mr. Steve Cox was at tonight’s meeting to talk about the Power Plant property.  He was proposing a non motorized water craft launch facility (please see attached proposal).
	Mr. Juliano asked Mr. Cox how many groups are involved with the Indian River Paddle Sports Association and who are they.
	Mr. Cox mentioned the Vero Beach Power Squadron, as being one of the organizations. 
	Mrs. Sue Dinneno, Recreation Commission member, asked who would manage the storage rental operation.
	Mr. Cox assumed it would be the City.
	Mr. Tim Grabenbauer, Marina Director, explained that the City does their own billing and bill the kayak rentals on a monthly basis.  He said there would need to be someone on site in order to handle the billing.
	Mrs. Dinneno referred to the diagram presented by Mr. Cox and asked where the parking was going to be located.
	Mr. Cox showed on the doc cam where he thought the parking could go.  He said there would need to be an unloading area close to the water.
	Mr. William (Bill) Walker, Marine Commission member, commented that he loves the idea that has just been presented.  He is on the water every day and it looks to him that it might be quite a hike to have to be carrying a kayak or paddle board to get to the water.  He mentioned where they want to put this launch facility is prime property on this site.  Mr. Cox said that he would not have a problem if they had to be located on the canal side.  Mr. Walker commented that the mangrove issue has not been addressed.
	Mr. Yemm reminded the public that at this workshop they were just collecting ideas, which will be submitted to the City Council.   
	Ms. Barbara McGraf stated that she lives on Cobia Drive and that canal is not very wide.  She said they are talking about a pretty big operation with these paddle boats and kayaks.  She thought it would be dangerous for people getting in and out of this narrow canal.  She also mentioned that there were mangroves there.
	Mr. Herb Whittall commented that he would like to see a restaurant on the river.  The restaurant could be where the cooling towers are now located.  He agreed with not allowing a band to play in this area.  If there is an outdoor band the surrounding residences could hear the music.  He noted that they will have to move the transfer station, which could go on the property where the former Post Office annex is located. 
	Mr. Charlie Wilson, Vero Beach Chamber of Commerce, commented that the Indian River Chamber of Commerce put together a Task Force and studied this issue.  The Indian River Chamber of Commerce was at the City Council meeting to give their recommendations and said they would not be attending this meeting.  He had hoped that they would have been here tonight.  Mr. Wilson said that they are actually talking about four (4) properties, with the fourth property being the manufactured home community located to the south.  There probably will be some major changes with that property.   He commented that it will take years to get this done.  The electric station is an important consideration that still has not been settled. He felt that they have heard some good ideas for the property.  He said that as far as moving the Water Treatment Plant, Ft. Pierce is in the process of working on moving their Plant so maybe the two cities could work together on this.  He felt that what they decide for this land should be the highest and best use for this community.  He brought up when the Vero Beach Chamber of Commerce brought in the Nina and Pinta that one thing they learned is that there is a shortage of deep water access in Vero Beach.  He said if they lose the deep water access at this site they have lost if forever.  The Vero Beach Chamber of Commerce could not use this site for the Nina and Pinta because homeland security would not allow people on the property.  The idea of doing a land swap is something to think about.  He expressed that they needed to protect their community.    
	Mrs. Bobbie Burdick, Recreation Commission member, asked with the deepwater canal could they get access from the waterway into that canal.  Mr. Wilson answered yes and explained.
	Mr. Holton asked how deep is the water that they are discussing.
	Mr. Grabenbauer guessed it was about five (5) to six (6) feet.  He said no dredging has been done in this area since the barges were there.
	Mr. Herb Whitall stated that he lives on the canal off of the main canal and the speed limit is 30 mph.  He said when big boats go through this canal the waves come into their canal.  
	Mr. Wilson did not think that a 90-foot boat was going to be traveling at 30 mph.
	Mr. Chris Woodrift, of Paddle by the Sea, commented that he would love to see this be a mixed use type facility.  He would also like to see a restaurant there.    
	Mr. Vic DeMattia, Chair of the Facilities Commission for the Youth Sailing Foundation, stated that the corner of the property should not be a commercial development.  His organization sometimes sails out of there and it is not smooth water.  He said the Indian River Rowing Club had trouble with 60-foot boats getting out of there.  
	Mr. Ken Daige stated that this land is protected in the Charter.  One thing they have heard is that this area is “prime” property.  He would like to see this prime property left open for the general population to go and observe the river.  There is not a lot of river front where you don’t have to pay to use it.  There is also not many places to launch boats where they don’t  have to pay to launch boats.  He said eventually the Water Treatment Plant will be relocated.  He asked moving forward that as much open space they can be preserved be done and that the height limitation not be changed.  
	Ms. Rachel Balm commented that there have been so many great ideas put out for this property.  She hopes that whatever this property becomes that it be done in a very eco friendly way.  
	4. COMMENTS FROM THE RECREATION COMMISSION/MARINE COMMISSION MEMBERS
	Mr. Juliano asked for comments from the Marine and Recreation Commission members.
	Mr. Johnson felt they were moving in the right direction.  He felt that they should use the experts when it comes to the planning aspect of it and then have it presented to the public.  There needs to be continued input from the public and he loves the direction they are moving in and the input they have received.   He encouraged keeping communication open with the public.
	Mr. Juliano commented that this is the very beginning of a long process.  He said the citizens of this community will be involved through the whole process.  He said no one knows how long it will take.  He appreciated everyone spending the time to present their ideas.  
	Mr. Yemm stated that the next step to take will be the recommendations from these two Commissions to be presented to the City Council at their February 16th City Council meeting.   They will present all of the suggestions that people have made and make a presentation to City Council on how to proceed.  Some options will be to use a land designer to incorporate all of these different ideas.  A charrette will probably be done and different alternatives will be presented.  It will take several months before all of this is completed.  Council has the option to utilize the services of the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council or to go out to bid and hire a developer or land design company to come up with a plan.  He said that would be Council’s decision.   They will take all of the ideas and suggestions and present them to Council.  The designer chosen will come in and develop a master plan for all three (3) pieces of land.  He thanked everyone for their participation and looked forward to working with them in the future.  
	5. STAFF COMMENTS
	None
	6. ADJOURNMENT
	Tonight’s meeting adjourned at 7:01 p.m.
	/tv


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


